FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/22/2024 4:33 PM

Case #: 1029926

Supreme Court No. Court of Appeals No. 85901-3-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EIGHT IS ENOUGH,

Petitioner,

v.

CYNTHIA OHLIG,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo Harbor Appeals and Law, PLLC 3510 53rd Street Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (360) 539-7156 office@harborappeals.com

Attorney for Petitioner

3.		ISSUES PRESENTED
	3.1.	Whether review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2) where Division One's Decision expressly conflicts with this Court's Decision in <i>Terry</i> , holding discrimination counterclaims are improper in expedited unlawful detainer proceedings, and conflicts with Division One's own previous published and unpublished decisions on the issue of whether a tenant may bring a counterclaim based on discrimination where the claim is not related to the basis of termination as stated in the notice?Yes
	3.2.	Whether review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because there is a substantial public interest issue, that should be decided by this Court, in preventing the elimination of the limited nature of unlawful detainer proceedings by allowing essentially any discrimination type counterclaim regardless of whether it relates to the termination notice issued by the landlord? Yes
	3.3.	Whether review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4), as an issue of substantial public policy that should be decided by this Court, because the "whole principal of strict construction of statutes in derogation of the common law has no analytical or philosophical justification" yet is repeated as a boilerplate standard in caselaw as lawful standard for courts to follow? Yes
4.		STATEMENT OF THE CASE2

5. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 12

6.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

Angelo Prop. Co., LP v. Hafiz, 167 Wn. App. 789, 274 P.3d 1075 (2012)15
Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 173 P.3d 228 (2007)21
Eastside Mental Health v. Vervynck, 93 Wn. App. 1061 (1999)14
<i>Eight Is Enough, LLC. v. Ohlig,</i> 85901-3-I, 2024 WL 913857 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 4, 2024) <i>in passim</i>
<i>Granat v. Keasler</i> , 99 Wn.2d 564, 663 P.2d 830 (1983)12, 20
Hous. Auth. of City of Everett v. Terry, 114 Wn.2d 558, 789 P.2d 745 (1990)in passim
Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle, Wash. v. Johnson, 92 Wn. 14 App. 1042 (1998)13, 20
Josephinium Associates v. Kahli, 111 Wn. App. 617, 45 P.3d 627 (2002)in passim
<i>Munden v. Hazelrigg</i> , 105 Wn.2d 39, 711 P.2d 295 (1985)12
Seattle Univ. v. Kahssai, 139 Wn. App. 1093 (2007)12

Other Authorities

J. Sutherland, Statutory Construction	
§ 61.04 (4th ed. 1986)	
R. Pound, Jurisprudence 664 (1959)	

1. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner Eight is Enough ("Petitioner") asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, referred to in Section Two.

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lewis County Superior Court found that it was proper to order a writ of restitution where the landlord issued a 90 day termination notice based on selling the property where Respondent's, Cynthia Ohlig's ("Respondent"), sole defense was a counterclaim that the landlord did not respond to her request for a comfort animal and allegedly discriminated against her, somehow barring eviction based on the notice to sell the property.

Division One of the Court of Appeals, on March 4, 2024, ruled that this was an error, holding the trial court needed to make a specific finding regarding the discrimination counterclaim, and remanded the case back to the trial court. Respondent, desiring more relief, moved for reconsideration and that decision was denied on April 5, 2024. Eight Is Enough, LLC. v. Ohlig, 85901-

3-I, 2024 WL 913857 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 4, 2024).

3. ISSUES PRESENTED

3.1. Whether review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2) where Division One's Decision expressly conflicts with this Court's Decision in *Terry*, holding discrimination counterclaims are improper in expedited unlawful detainer proceedings, and conflicts with Division One's own previous published and unpublished decisions on the issue of whether a tenant may bring a counterclaim based on discrimination where the claim is not related to the basis of termination as stated in the notice? Yes.

3.2. Whether review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because there is a substantial public interest issue, that should be decided by this Court, in preventing the elimination of the limited nature of unlawful detainer proceedings by allowing essentially any discrimination type counterclaim regardless of whether it relates to the termination notice issued by the landlord? Yes.

3.3. Whether review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4), as an issue of substantial public policy that should be decided by this Court, because the "whole principal of strict construction of statutes in derogation of the common law has no analytical or philosophical justification" yet is repeated as a boilerplate standard in caselaw as lawful standard for courts to follow? Yes.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

4.1. Petitioner is a small business owned by several

elderly women. (CP 73). Each of these owners has declining health problems and can no longer manage this business. (CP 73, 162-63). They have sold off rentals during the last three years, incrementally to avoid large capital gains taxes that are not affordable. (CP 73, 162-63).

4.2. Petitioner rented to Respondent in 2015 (CP 73) a three-bedroom single family home at the below market rate of \$895.00 per month and never increased rent; Respondents are generous and kind landlords. (CP 7). The rental agreement expressly prohibited pets. (CP 9).

4.3. Petitioner learned of a dog on the property in the winter of 2022 and requested Respondent fill out an application. (CP 74, 163). Respondent refused. (CP 74, 163). Petitioner accepted months of rent and in doing so accepted the pet on the property and waived the issue. (CP at 103, 162-63).

4.4. In April of 2022, Petitioner spoke with a surveying company for the purpose of subdividing the four rental homes, including Respondent's, on the single lot. (CP at 73-80). These

properties would be sold over time to effectuate the goal of getting out of the business while minimizing capital gain taxes. (CP at 73-80).

4.5. In May of 2022, the surveyor continued her work including obtaining permits. (CP 73-80). The city approved the subdivision. (CP at 162). However, the initial approval that created four lots was cost prohibitive. (CP 73-80). The County required far too much money invested into the properties and associated road front for such permitting. (CP 73-80). The county required such things as costly side walking. (CP 73-80).

4.6. As a cost saving alternative suggested by the surveyor, Respondents elected to subdivide the properties into two lots, one dwelling on one lot and three dwellings on the other lot. (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63). The dwelling Respondent resided in, rented many years prior, was in need of much repair. (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63). This property would not sell without substantial repairs and refurbishing (indeed, over \$20,000.00 was spent to repair the unit after Respondent moved

out). (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63).

4.7. The three other homes had tenants with a strong history of paying rent timely (unlike Respondent who has failed to pay rent timely many times for long lengths of time), which could attract potential buyers. (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63). These properties did not need refurbishing and could theoretically be sold to another landlord as an investment with existing and paying tenants still residing in them. (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63).

4.8. Had the property Respondent rented been included in the lot with the other dwellings, there was no potential that a landlord would purchase that lot with three dwellings, at least not without Petitioner selling the lot for far below market value to compensate the buyer for needed repairs. (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63). Potential buyers of rentals with tenants in them request a review of such tenant's rent payment history before investing. (CP 73-80, 147-59, 162-63).

4.9. Petitioner gave Respondent over 120 days of notice that they were selling the property "so that she could stay through

the summer and into the fall." (CP 162, 162-63). The termination date of the notice was September 30, 2022. (CP 15-16).

4.10. Petitioner continued to accept rent from Respondent through June of 2022 (CP 4, 182). In doing so, with knowledge of the breach of the rental agreement, by performance Petitioner formally accepted the dog on property, waiving any possible future objection.

4.11. Respondent then stopped paying rent in July of 2022. (CP 4, 182). Respondent did not vacate on September 30, 2022. (CP 4, 182). Petitioner filed for eviction in October 17, 2022. (CP 4, 182). The basis of the complaint was the 90 day notice to sell the property. (CP 4, 16, 182).

4.12. On November 10, 2022, Respondent answered the complaint. (CP 64). She argued in pertinent part:

- "It would be impossible" for Petitioner to sell the property. (CP 33).
- Back owed rent was not at issue. (CP 33, 40-42).

- Petitioner was bringing a retaliatory eviction against Petitioner under RCW 59.19.250 and RCW 59.18.240. (CP 36-37).
- Petitioner "discriminated" against Respondent because "Neither Ms. Lebaron nor anybody else at Eight is Enough responded to [Respondent's] reasonable accommodation request" for a comfort animal. (CP 38).

4.13. Respondent's sole declaration and testimony in this case was filed the same day. (CP 49-52). It neglected to provide that the comfort animal had been residing on the property for several months without any objection from Petitioner, or that Petitioner had given Respondent an application for a pet or roommate, or that rent had been paid and any objection waived, and stated:

"I would have been open to discussing my reasonable accommodation request to see what they could reasonably offer me."

"[N]either Rose LeBaron nor anybody else from Eight is Enough contacted me to discuss my accommodation requests."

"I received nothing in writing acknowledging my reasonable accommodation requests."

"I received no offer of reasonable accommodation. I did not even receive a response offering to discuss, oral or written."

(CP 49-51).

4.14. In pertinent part as to this Petition, on appeal

Petitioner responded:

- Petitioner did not deny Respondent's reasonable accommodation at all. Petitioner did respond to the request: Petitioner requested Respondent fill out an application for any additional persons or pets on the property. Respondent refused to do so and refused to speak with Petitioner again. Petitioner then accepted rent for months with knowledge of the dog being on the premises and waived the violation as a matter of law.
- Respondent's claim for retaliatory eviction under RCW 59.19.250 and RCW 59.18.240 failed to meet the requirements of those statutes. For example, Respondent "did not complain to any government authority regarding any safety issue. Therefore, RCW 59.18.240(1)'s requirements [were] not met." "Additionally, [Petitioner did] not requested any enforcement of tenant rights under Chapter 59.18, RCW. Thus, RCW 59.18.240(2)'s requirements [were] not met."
- Petitioner's sole reason for terminating the tenancy was because the company's owners were elderly, downsizing, had previously sold rentals, and were

selling this rental as they could not keep up with the workload of being a landlord.

(CP 81-89).

4.15. A show cause hearing was set for November 18, 2022. (CP 29-30). Petitioner had been approved for one subdivision application but was seeking another that was less costly, and "it was just a matter of time" and work to get the property up for sale. (RP 5, 11-12).

4.16. Petitioner also explained that no one from the company "refused the therapy pet" let alone discriminated against anyone. (RP 6). "[The pet has] been allowed on the property ever since that reasonable accommodation was asked for. . . ." (RP 6).

4.17. As to the counterclaim of retaliatory eviction, Petitioner cited case law *Terry*, *Josephine*, and *SyHadley*, explaining that counterclaims are generally not allowed in expedited unlawful detainer actions. (RP 6-7). "[T]he Court must first look to the underlying basis of the landlord's unlawful detainer action and the notice to vacate, and then ask whether the tenant's counterclaim is based on facts that may excuse the tenant's breach alleged by the landlord." (RP 8). "In this case, whether there's a therapy dog or pet . . . does not excuse the tenant [from] not vacating [after] having the tenancy properly terminated" by a notice to sell the property. (RP 7).

4.18. Petitioner pointed out that the allegation of retaliatory eviction by Respondent was not made regarding rights granted by Chapter 59.18, RCW, as RCW 59.18.240 required, but under law outside the unlawful detainer scheme. (RP 7-8). In other words, the statutory retaliation RCW required (1) failure to comply with "maintenance or operation of the premises" or (2) denial of rights granted by the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act. (RP 7-8, 12). The counterclaim of retaliatory eviction failed because it did not meet the requirements of RCW 59.18.240.

4.19. At this point during the show cause hearing, the trial court judge specifically asked Respondent's counsel "do you have a response to [Petitioner's counsel's] argument that

[Respondent's retaliatory eviction claim] doesn't meet the rights under this chapter in regard to the retaliation claim?" (RP 13). Respondent's answer was enlightening and if any error, he invited it: "no, I don't have a good response to it, to be honest." (RP 14).

4.20. The Court then granted the motion for a writ of restitution and found that "there's plenty of evidence to show an intent to sell": (1) Petitioner had "taken reasonable steps to sell the property or to show an intent that they plan to sell the property", (2) Petitioner has "several properties" and "have already sold and listed other properties for sale, showing their intent to sell these properties because they're aging and, also, the steps that they've taken to look into the subdivision [of this property] and having it divided.". (RP14-15).

4.21. The property was subsequently subdivided and sold as Petitioner stated would happen.

4.22. On appeal, Respondent argued the following in pertinent part:

• There was a substantial issue of fact regarding Respondent's counterclaim for discrimination that precluded an order for a writ of restitution at the show cause hearing.

5. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

5.1. <u>Review Should Be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)</u> and RAP 13.4(b)(2) Because Division One's Decision is Contrary to Decisions of This Court, <u>Including Terry that Expressly Held Counterclaims</u> including Discrimination are Not Permitted in an Expedited Unlawful Detainer Proceeding, as well as and Published and Unpublished Decisions of the <u>Court of Appeal, Including Josephinium</u>.

"It is settled by an unbroken line of decisions that in [a unlawful detainer] proceeding the defendant may not assert a setoff or counterclaim." *Young v. Riley*, 59 Wn.2d 50, 52, 365 P.2d 769, 771 (1961) "It has long been settled that counterclaims may not be asserted in an unlawful detainer action." *Granat v. Keasler*, 99 Wn.2d 564, 570, 663 P.2d 830, 834 (1983). Counterclaims are not allowed during unlawful detainer proceedings. *Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985). "In so holding, the courts have acknowledged the Legislature's intent to create a summary procedure and limit the issue to the landlord's right of possession." *Granat*, 99 Wn.2d at 570–71.

Rather, "the court sits as a special statutory tribunal to summarily decide the issues authorized by statute and not as a court of general jurisdiction with the power to hear and determine other issues." *Id.* at 570–71. A trial "court has no jurisdiction to consider a counterclaim that is not necessary to determine the right to possession." *Seattle Univ. v. Kahssai*, 139 Wn. App. 1093 (2007).

In a case before this Court, En Banc, *Hous. Auth. of City* of Everett v. Terry, 114 Wn.2d 558, 789 P.2d 745 (1990), the tenant argued that an order for a writ of restitution should have been reversed because the landlord discriminated against the tenant by denying a reasonable accommodation of a handicap of the tenant. This Court—*citing the alleged violation of RCW* 49.60.030—expressly refused to consider the discrimination counterclaim, holding that "we have long held that counterclaims may not be asserted in an unlawful detainer action." *Id.* at 570. Division One subsequently ruled in accord, citing *Terry*. See e.g., Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle, Wash. v. Johnson, 92 Wn. App. 1042 (1998) (holding "The holding in *Terry* precludes consideration of Johnson's handicap discrimination claim as a defense in the unlawful detainer action"); *Eastside Mental Health v. Vervynck*, 93 Wn. App. 1061 (1999) (holding "The *Terry* court characterized the argument made here—that a landlord discriminated against a disabled tenant by denying his request for a reasonable accommodation—as a counterclaim that may not be asserted in an unlawful detainer action").

As another example, *SyHadley* articulates the long accepted test used by the trial court in determining whether a counterclaim is allowable in an expedited unlawful detainer proceeding: "Because a landlord may have varying grounds for pursuing an unlawful detainer action, a court must (1) first look at the underlying basis for the landlord's unlawful detainer action as set out in the notice to vacate or the complaint; and (2) then ask whether a tenant's counterclaim is based on facts that may

'excuse' the tenant's breach alleged by the landlord." *SyHadley*, *LLC v. Smith*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1017 (2021), *review denied*, 199
Wn.2d 1001, 504 P.3d 826 (2022). *Josephinium* is in accord. *Josephinium Associates v. Kahli*, 111 Wn. App. 617, 626, 45
P.3d 627, 632 (2002) (holding "tenant's defense" of discrimination "must constitute an excuse of [her] breach.").

"If the answer to the second inquiry is 'yes,' then the trial court may properly hear the counterclaim in an unlawful detainer proceeding." *Angelo Prop. Co., LP v. Hafiz*, 167 Wn. App. 789, 815, 274 P.3d 1075, 1088 (2012). "But if the answer to the second inquiry is 'no,' then the trial court may not address the counterclaim without first converting the unlawful detainer action into an ordinary civil action for damages." *Id.* at 815.

Josephinium is another case that discusses how rare properly pled discrimination defenses are in unlawful detainer actions. The expedited proceeding prohibits counterclaims and in doing so requires defenses to be solely limited to be related to the termination notice at issue. Division One went so far as to

describe discrimination defenses as "extremely unlikely" in eviction cases because of the limited nature of the proceeding and the requirement for a discrimination allegation to somehow invalidate the eviction notice. *Josephinium*, 111 Wn. App. at 627. Only because of the "unusual circumstances" was a discrimination defense properly raised in *Josephinium* as it directly impacted whether the tenant did not comply with the failure to pay notice. *Id.* at 620.

The tenant in *Josephinum* was served a 14-day notice for failure to pay rent after she tendered a portion of her rent due. *Id.* at 621. She refused to pay the remaining rent due and also refused to vacate asserting that had the landlord moved her into a less expensive unit as part of a requested accommodation, she would not have been behind on rent and the landlord would not have had a basis for eviction for failure to pay. *Id.* at 627. Only because the discrimination counterclaim directly impacted the notice to vacate and reason given for terminating the tenancy could the trial court hear the generally impermissible counterclaim. *Id.*

In SyHadley, LLC, the tenant asserted that "she had suffered 'retaliation, harassment and discrimination based on race and sex' by . . . her landlord." SyHadley, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1017. The trial court found that the tenant was properly served with a notice to pay past due rent or to vacate the premises, that she owed rent in the sum of \$11,088.29, and that she had not complied with the requirement to pay rent. Id. She was therefore unlawfully detaining the premises. Id. It also found that the tenant committed an assault against another tenant and that conduct justified the issuance of an order for a writ of restitution. The court of appeals affirmed the trial court issuance of a writ of restitution, at the show cause hearing, holding the tenant's discrimination counterclaim—even if proved—would not excuse the tenant's failure to vacate the premises based on the landlord's pay or vacate and nuisance termination notices issued. Id.

Here, this Court, En Banc in *Terry*, has already decided the issue of whether a discrimination claim may be raised in the limited special proceeding known as an unlawful detainer:

Appellant Terry argued, "as an affirmative defense" in the unlawful detainer action, the counterclaim that a landlord has a duty to make a reasonable accommodation to the handicap of a tenant. A breach of this duty, he argues, constitutes discrimination by expelling a handicapped person from real property in violation of RCW 49.60.030(1)(c). The trial court disagreed.

We do not consider the question raised by appellant's counterclaim because we have long held that counterclaims may not be asserted in an unlawful detainer action.

[T]he counterclaim was not properly before the court....

Terry, 114 Wn.2d at 569–70.

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