NO. 1029926

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EIGHT IS ENOUGH LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

CYNTHIA OHLIG,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT CYNTHIA OHLIG'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER EIGHT IS ENOUGH LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carrie Graf, WSBA #51999 Jason Kinn, WSBA #8810 **NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT** 711 Capitol Way S., Suite 704 Olympia, Washington 98501 Tel. (360) 753-3610 Attorneys for CYNTHIA OHLIG

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The portion of the Court of Appeals' *Ruling* challenged by Petitioner aligns with well-established law permitting tenants to raise discrimination as an affirmative defense to an eviction

In 2002, the Court of Appeals undertook Washington's

first direct judicial examination of the issue of whether discrimination is a defense to an eviction. *Josephinium*, 111 Wn. App. at 626. The court held that discrimination is a defense to evictions, one which courts *must* consider, so long as discrimination arises out of the tenant's right to possess the home. *Id.* That is, a court must consider a tenant's discrimination defense if either, as Ms. Ohlig alleges, discrimination is "the reason for the eviction" or if discrimination excuses the breach upon which the eviction is based. *Id.* at 625. If the discrimination claim has nothing to do with the eviction, then it cannot be heard in the summary eviction proceeding. *Id. Josephinium* remains good law. *See e.g.*, *Kiemle and Hagood Company v. Daniels*, 26 Wn. App. 2d. 199, 221, 528 P.3d 834, 846 (2023) (*citing Josephinium* for the proposition that the failure to accommodate may be a defense to an eviction).

The *Ruling* challenged by Petitioner is simply a straightforward application of the holding in *Josephinium*. The trial court failed to even consider Ms. Ohlig's defense that discrimination motivated the eviction, and the Court of Appeals held this was error because a trial court is required to consider the defense. *Ruling* at 17. There is no conflict between the challenged ruling and *Josephinium*, and Petitioner does not allege *Josephinium* was decided wrongly. In the absence of a conflict justifying review, Petitioner creates the illusion of one by pointing instead to *Terry*, a case that predates *Josephinium* and that explicitly declined to consider the issue of whether discrimination is a defense to evictions. *Terry*, 114 Wn.2d at 570.

It is deeply misleading of Petitioner to, under the guise of *Terry*, suggest that Washington law currently prohibits tenants from asserting discrimination as a defense to evictions. Our anti-discrimination laws have evolved since *Terry*. At the time *Terry* was decided, the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) did not require landlords to make reasonable accommodations, and the legislature only added this requirement in 1993. *See* Laws of 1993, ch. 69 § 5.

Three years after *Terry*, in 1993, the legislature amended the WLAD to create a landlord duty to provide reasonable accommodations for tenants when necessary to afford a tenant equal use and enjoyment of a home. *Id.*; RCW 49.60.222(2)(b). It was within this context that the Court of Appeals in 2002 directly engaged in a careful and thorough analysis of the issue of whether a tenant can raise discrimination as an affirmative defense to an eviction. The court in Josephinium was

unequivocal in its holding:

The right to be free from discriminatory eviction is a substantive legal right, and ordinary civil remedies are unavailing in the face of a summary eviction proceeding. A landlord cannot simply decide to evict all tenants of color. If unlawful discrimination is the reason for an eviction, the defense certainly affects the tenant's right of possession.

Josephinium, 111 Wn. App. at 625. The appellate court's

holding in Ms. Ohlig's case is perfectly in line with the holding

in Josephinium. What Petitioner is actually urging this Court to

do, under the guise of a fabricated conflict, is overturn

Josephinium.

1. Petitioner bases the purported "conflict" on the false premise that Ms. Ohlig raised discrimination as a counterclaim. But she raised discrimination as an affirmative defense

Ms. Ohlig raised discrimination as an affirmative defense

to the eviction, not a counterclaim.² CP 37. But Petitioner

 $^{^{2}}$ A party raises a counterclaim in order to seek affirmative relief and a demand for judgment. CR 8(a). A counterclaim requires a responsive pleading by the plaintiff. CR 12(a)(4). Ms. Ohlig did not raise discrimination as a counterclaim in

continues to insist, as they have throughout the appeal, on mischaracterizing her defense as a counterclaim. The Court of Appeals, in ruling for Ms. Ohlig, specifically rejected Petitioner's repeated distortion of the record:

> The landlord's primary argument in response, repeated in different ways throughout its briefs, is that Ohlig's discrimination defense is a mere counterclaim which is separate from the right to possession, and thus the court did not need to consider it. However, this argument is simply a misstatement of the well-reasoned holding in *Josephinium*, and a mischaracterization of how Ohlig presents her claims. Ohlig is not seeking damages in this action, merely the right of continued possession, which a retaliatory eviction does not extinguish. In turn, we hold that it was error for the trial court to fail to consider the discrimination defense at the show cause hearing.

Ruling at 12. Petitioner makes no effort now to address the fact

that Ms. Ohlig plead discrimination as an affirmative defense

and that the Court of Appeals explicitly ruled on Ms. Ohlig's

appeal as a defense, not a counterclaim. It is obvious why

order to seek damages against her landlord. She raised it to defend against an eviction motivated by discrimination.

Petitioner continues with this misleading argument: it has been established law since 2002 that discrimination is an affirmative defense to an eviction, one which a trial court must consider. *Josephinium*, 111 Wn. App. at 626.

2. *Terry* is not in conflict with the Court of Appeals' *Ruling* because the *Terry* Court declined to consider the issue of whether discrimination may be raised as a defense

Petitioner relies on Housing Authority of City of Everett

v. Terry for the proposition that a tenant may not raise failure to accommodate as a defense to an eviction, and that therefore the challenged decision is in conflict with *Terry*, a Supreme Court case. *Petition* at 13. But *Terry*, which predates *Josephinium*, explicitly declined to consider the issue of the tenant's discrimination defense because the issue was "moot" and the Court had already ruled the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the eviction, remanding the case for dismissal. *Terry*, 114 Wn.2d at 570. The court in *Josephinium* explained in detail why *Terry* does not prohibit tenants from raising discrimination defenses in unlawful detainer actions:

The court did not consider Terry's discrimination claim, both because it was moot, and because "counterclaims may not be asserted in an unlawful detainer action." As authority for the latter statement, *Terry* relied on *Granat v. Keasler* and *Woodward v. Blanchett*, both of which involved counterclaims not germane to the right of possession. The *Terry* court undertook no further analysis, and there is no indication the court intended to overrule long-standing case law defining when defenses arise out of a tenant. Discrimination may be a defense that arises out of the tenancy. When it does, the statute permits a tenant to assert the defense and requires the court to consider it.

Josephinium, 111 Wn. App. at 626 (internal citations omitted).

Petitioner's only support for review is *Terry*, a case in which the court dismissed as moot the central question on appeal and that, to the extent it spent a few sentences discussing discrimination defenses, mischaracterized them as counterclaims and relied on inapposite cases. *Terry* is not applicable here, and does not sit in conflict with the Court of Appeal's holding in Ms. Ohlig's case.

3. The Court of Appeals' holding that the trial court was required to consider Ms. Ohlig's

discrimination defense was in line with *Josephinium*

Josephinium squarely addressed the issue in Ms.

Ohlig's case:

If unlawful discrimination is the reason for an eviction, the defense certainly affects the tenant's right of possession...presumably, a landlord may not escape an obligation to accommodate merely by serving a notice to vacate.

Id. at 625, 630. This is exactly what happened to Ms. Ohlig. She requested a reasonable accommodation to have a support animal and caregiver, something her landlord had already made clear they did not want her to have. CP 130-131. In response to her request, her landlord served her five days later with a notice terminating her tenancy. CP 50. Ms. Ohlig argued that her landlord sought to "escape an obligation to accommodate merely by serving a notice to vacate." *Id.* at 630.

When Ms. Ohlig presented evidence that "unlawful discrimination [was] the reason for the eviction," the court, as per *Josephinium*, was "require[d]...to consider it." *Id*. at 625. But, the court did not, and instead ordered issuance of a writ of

restitution based solely on the facial validity of the notice and the landlord's evident intent to sell the property.

Petitioner misrepresents *Josephinium* as limiting discrimination defenses to only those situations in which discrimination excuses the tenant's breach.³ *Petition*, pgs. 18-19. But *Josephinium* explicitly held that discrimination is a defense in two situations. One situation is if discrimination excuses a tenant's breach. *Josephinium*, 111 Wn. App. at 625. But also, discrimination can be a defense if, as here, discrimination is the "reason for an eviction." *Id.* Again, it is clear why Petitioner engages in this misrepresentation. Petitioner needs to manufacture a conflict in order to obtain review by this Court. But the *Ruling* is directly in line with *Josephinium* and no conflict exists.

³ For example, had Petitioner sought to evict Ms. Ohlig for having a dog in violation of the lease, Ms. Ohlig's defense that she was legally entitled to a dog as an accommodation would have excused her breach.

4. All other cases relied on by Petitioner are unpublished and therefore not a basis for review

Petitioner also grounds their argument in three unpublished opinions without citing to them as such. *SyHadley*, LLC v. Smith, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1017 (2021); Housing Authority of Seattle, Wash. v. Johnson, 92 Wn. App. 1042 (1998); Eastside Mental Health v. Vervynck, 93 Wn. App. 1061 (1999). Preliminarily, there are two problems with this. First, review may only be sought if there is a conflict with published Court of Appeals' decisions, not unpublished decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Second, parties may cite to unpublished decisions as nonbinding authority only if the party indicates that the case is unpublished, and only if the court filed it on or after March 13, 2013. GR 14.1(a). Petitioner failed to cite to them as such, and two of the unpublished decisions Petitioner references, Johnson and *Vervynck* were issued prior to March 13, 2013.

Our courts have noted their strong disapproval of parties citing to unpublished cases without indicating they are unpublished. *See Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 166, 298 P.3d 86 (2013). Courts have sometimes sanctioned parties for failing to indicate that even a single decision (let alone three) was unpublished. *See Dwyer v. J.I. Kislak Mortg. Corp.*, 103 Wn. App. 542, 548, 13 P.3d 240 (2002); *In re Marriage of Schnurman*, 178 Wn. App. 634, 645, 316 P.3d 514 (2013). Alternately, our courts have refused to consider unpublished cases when a party fails to cite them as such. *See Condon*, 177 Wn. 2d at 165-66; *Skamania County v. Woodall*, 104 Wn. App. 525, 536 n.11, 16 P.3d 701 (2011).

Further, GR 14.1 instructs courts not to cite or discuss unpublished decisions unless "necessary for a reasoned decision." GR 14.1(c). In this matter, published case law and statutes provide sufficient basis for this Court to reach a reasoned decision and the unpublished cases cited by Petitioner should be disregarded.

To the extent this Court does consider the unpublished cases relied on by Petitioner, they should be given little persuasive value. *SyHadley LLC v. Smith* is central to Petitioner's argument, but the tenant there was *pro se* whereas the landlord was represented. *SyHadley*. It is likely the issues were not fully developed or adequately briefed.

Notably, *SyHadley* did not involve a discrimination defense. It has little bearing on how this Court should approach Petitioner's argument. The tenant in *SyHadley* raised a counterclaim for breach of quiet enjoyment, based on the landlord's failure to respond to other resident's racial harassment of the tenant. *Id.* at *4. The court considered whether the counterclaim of quiet enjoyment excused the tenant assaulting a different tenant, and determined it did not. *Id.* at *5.

SyHadley, like Petitioner, also ignores *Josephinium's* holding that tenants could not only raise discrimination defenses in situations when discrimination excuses the breach, but also in situations like Ms. Ohlig, where discrimination is the reason for the eviction. As to the other two unpublished cases relied on by Petitioner, *Johnson* and *Vervynck*, both predate *Josephinium*. *Vervynck* refused to consider the tenant's appeal as moot. *Vervynck* at *2. *Johnson* perfunctorily recites *Terry* in order to conclude that the tenant was precluded from raising discrimination as a defense to an eviction. *Johnson* at *3. Neither case engaged in any meaningful analysis about the issue appealed here. These cases should not be considered.

B. There is a substantial public interest in ensuring tenants are not evicted for discriminatory reasons

Ms. Ohlig agrees with Petitioner that there is a public interest in maintaining the summary, expedited nature of eviction hearings. But that interest is not jeopardized by the challenged ruling. Even within their limited statutory scope of authority, courts are obligated to hear defenses affecting possession, which include a defense that the eviction was motivated by discriminatory reasons. RCW 59.18.380; RCW 59.18.400. Requiring a court to *consider* a discrimination defense at a show cause hearing (and setting the case for trial if the tenant raises an issue of fact) no more violates the summary nature of the eviction process than requiring a court to consider any other "legal or equitable defense...arising out of the tenancy." *Id.*

The court in *Josephinium* has already engaged in a thorough analysis of this issue, one rooted in the unlawful detainer process and the WLAD, and concluded that even within the summary nature of eviction, tenants must be allowed to raise discrimination defenses when these are tied to possession. Josephinium, 111 Wn. App. at 625. It is worth noting that *Josephinium* framed this issue itself as one of continuing and substantial public interest. Id. at 622. This is in line from with the WLAD's mandate to prevent discrimination. RCW 49.60.010. Prohibiting a court from hearing such a defense undermines the substantial public interest in preventing housing discrimination. It must be emphasized that what Eight is Enough is asking, in the name of the public interest, is to give a green light to discriminatory evictions. So long as a landlord

can produce an eviction notice that on its face is statutorily compliant, then, according to Petitioner, it is irrelevant that the landlord's motive for evicting the tenant was illegal discrimination.

The obvious consequence of Petitioner's position is that landlords will be able to use the summary unlawful detainer process to do exactly what the law forbids: "escape an obligation to accommodate merely by serving a notice to vacate" or to "evict all tenants of color." Id. at 626, 630. Petitioner tries to mask this reality by claiming that a tenant who believes they are facing a discriminatory eviction can simply file an affirmative case and then seek an injunction to stop the eviction. But, Josephinium also already dispensed with the idea that a tenant can stop a discriminatory eviction by filing a regular civil lawsuit. "[O]rdinary civil remedies are unavailing in the face of summary eviction proceedings." Id. at 625.

The barriers, both practical and legal, facing a tenant trying to stop an eviction via an affirmative lawsuit are almost insurmountable. For one, even if they were to succeed in obtaining an injunction (which is extremely unlikely, as detailed below), both state and federal civil rules require that they pay a bond. CR 65(c); FCRP 65(c). This alone would prevent most if not all tenants from obtaining an injunction.

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